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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT TACOMA

RANDY LEE BOAG, et al.,

o CASE NO. C115838 BHS
Plaintiffs,

ORDERGRANTING DISMISSAL
V. OF CERTAIN CLAIMS

LITTON LOAN SERVICING, et al.,

Defendants.

This matter comes before the Court on multiple Defendants’ motions to disn
(Dkts. 15 &19) and this Court’s order granting in part and denying in part those
Defendants’ motions to dismiss, granting leave to amend, and reserving ruling on
Plaintiffs Randy Lee and Katherine Boag's (“Boags”) claims for declaratory relief, g
title, and CPA violations, until the Washington State Supreme Court’s iSaied
v.Metropolitan Mortgage Group, Ind75 Wn. 2d 83 (2012). Dkts. 28 and 40. Once
Bainissued, the Court requested additional briefing from the parties as to what, if 4
impactBain had on the claims on which the Court reserved ruling. Dkt. 40.

. FACTUAL & PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On October 11, 2011, the Boags, as individuals and the marital community

comprised thereof, filed a complaint against Defendants. Dkt. 1. Their lawsuit aris

of a mortgage loan obtained by the Boags from Defendant Ownlt Mortgage Solutig
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Inc. to finance real property located at 180 West Manor Road, Shelton, Washingto
98584. Dkt. 1 at 3-4. The deed of trust executed in connection with the promissory
identifies Mortgage Electronic Registrations Systems, Inc. (‘MERS”) as the benefiq
acting “solely as a nominee for Lender and Lender’s successors and assigns.” DK
The Boags admit defaulting on their loan payments on October 1, 2008. Dkt. 1 at
their complaint, the Boags assert claims against Defendants for: (1) declaratory re
violation of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (‘RESPA”) 12 U.S.C. § 26(
seq.; (3) quiet title; (4) fraud in the inducement; (5) violation of the Washington
Consumer Protection Act (“CPA”), RCW § 19.86; and (6) violation of the Fair Cred
Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq. Dkt. 1 at 11-22.

On November 29, 2011, Defendants Litton Loan Servicing, LP, HSBC Bank
National Association, as Trustee for Ownlit Mortgage Loan Trust, Mortgage Loan A
Backed Certificates, Series 2005-2, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems Inc
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (collectively, “Defendants”) filed motions to dismiss pursug
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), seeking dismissal of all claims alleged against them in theg
Boags’ complaint. Dkts. 15 & 16. On December 17, 2011, the Boags responded i
opposition, and, in part, requested that the Court await the issuaBaatiefore
deciding the motions to dismiss. Dkt. 21 at 7-8. On January 3, 2012, Defendants
(Dkt. 26). On December 6, 2012, Defendant Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. (“N\
also filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), seeking dismiss

all claims alleged against it in the Boags’ complaint. Dkt. 19. On January 2, 2012
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Boags responded. Dkt. 24. On January 6, 2012, NWTS replied. Dkt. 27.
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On March 3, 2012, the Court issued an order granting in part and denying in
Defendants’ motion to dismiss. Dkt. 28. In that order, the Court dismissed with
prejudice all claims against Wells Fargo. Dkt. 28 at 4-5. As to Defendants Litton L
Servicing, LP, HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as Trustee for Ownlt Mortg

Loan Trust, Mortgage Loan Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2005-2, MERS, the

part

oan
Age

Court

dismissed all claims, excepting the Boags’ claims for declaratory relief, quiet title and

CPA violations. See id.The Court also granted the Boags an opportunity to amend
complaint as to the fraud claims, RESPA allegations and FRCA claims against
Defendants.ld. at 11. As to NWTS, the Court dismissed with prejudice the Boags’
RESPA and quiet title claims but dismissed their request for declaratory relief and
fraud claim without prejudiceld. at 12. Additionally, the Court noted that if the “Boa
wish to amend their complaint to allege a claim against NWTS under RCW § 62.24
or any other claim against any defendant, they must seek to do so in a properly filg
motion to amend.”ld. The Boags never filed a motion to amend their complaint.
On December 12, 2012, the Court issued an order requested additional brie
from the parties as to what, if any, imp8etin had on the claims on which the Court

reserved ruling. Dkt. 40. Defendants and NWTS complied with the briefing sched

out in the order. Dkts. 40, 42 and 44. Plaintiffs failed to file a brief opposing any of

Defendants’ or NWTS additional argument regardiiain or the dismissal of the

claims still pending.
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. DISCUSSION

A. Legal Standards

Motions to dismiss brought under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure may be based on either the lack of a cognizable legal theory or the abs
sufficient facts alleged under such a thedBgalistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep/19901 F.2d
696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). Material allegations are taken as admitted and the comp
construed in the plaintiff's favorKeniston v. Robert¥17 F.2d 1295, 1301 (9th Cir.
1983). To survive a motion to dismiss, the complaint does not require detailed fac
allegations but must provide the grounds for entitlement to relief and not merely a
“formulaic recitation” of the elements of a cause of actiBell Atlantic Corp. v.
Twombly 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1965 (2007). Plaintiffs must allege “enough facts to sta
claim to relief that is plausible on its facdd. at 1974.

Rule 7(b)(2) of the Local Rules states that “[i]f a party fails to file papers in
opposition to a motion, such failure may be considered by the court as an admissic
the motion has merit.” However, in considering a motion for summary judgment, tf

motion should not be granted simply because there is no opposition, even if the fa

oppose violates a local rul&ee Henry v. Gill Indus983 F.2d 943, 950 (9th Cir. 1993).

Rather, the moving party must demonstrate the absence of genuine issues of mats
regardless of whether the party against whom the motion for summary judgment is
directed has filed any oppositiosee Cristobal v. Siege26 F.3d 1488, 1491 (9th Cir.

1994). The Court applies the same analysis when a party fails to respond to a mo

ence of
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dismiss, in that the moving party must demonstrate why the plaintiff has failed to s
claim in order for the motion to be granted.
B. Application of Legal Standards

Defendants seek dismissal of Plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory relief, quiet titl

and CPA claims, arguing thBain does not change their position that the Court should

dismiss all remaining claims against them, but essentially further supports their po
Dkts. 15 and 44. Defendants seek dismissal for the following reasons: (1) the claif
declaratory judgment and quiet title fail as to MERS and Litton as they do not clain
interest in the secured property; (2) the same claims fail as to HSBC Bank becal
Is empowered to initiate foreclosure as it is the holder of the note, not because ME
assigned it the deed and that the assignment is merely public records of that fact;
Plaintiffs have not suffered any prejudice or harm to meet the pleading requiremen
CPA claim by the simple fact that MERS was named as the beneficiary under the ¢
trust; and (4) Plaintiffs have failed to allege a public interest impact as to Litton Loa
Servicing or HSBC Bank, as Trustee, to support a claim under the CPA.
Defendantprovide a welreasoned analysis &in, the Boags’ complaint, and
other relevant case law to support their position that the remaining allegations, exg
the CPA claim, against them should be dismissed for failure to state a claim based
some of the reasons set forth above. Dkt. 44 at 1-8. FulibeBoaggrovided no
response opposing Defendants’ well-supported arguments, though the Court spec

requested it. Dkt. 40. Thus, as the Court was inclined to do before the issuBagg o
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argument that distinguishes their case from recent prior cases supporting Defendants

motion to dismissgeeDkt. 28 at 6), the Court determines that Defendants’ motion to

dismiss the remaining claims is granted, with the exception of the Bo&gstlaim
In its prior order, the Court determined that, independent of the Boags’ alleg
regarding the role of MERS:

[they] allege additional facts in support of their CPA claim regarding
Defendants’ unfulfilled promise to refinance their home following the
improvements made to the home, Defendants acting deceptively in not
providing the proper documentation and failing to disclose the precise
terms of the loan, as well as misappropriating mortgage and escrow
payments.SeeDkts. 1 & 21 at 9-10. The Court concludes that the Boags
have sufficiently pled their CPA claim based on these facts. Although it is
unclear to the Court whether the Boags will ultimately prevail in
establishing the public interest, as well as the other elements, and ultimately
proving their CPA claim, the Court concludes that their alleged facts, when
taken as true, are sufficient to support a CPA claim and defeat Defendants’
motion to dismiss.

Dkt. 28 at 9-10. Nothing in Defendants’ supplemental briefing demonstrates that (g
Bain, this portion of the Court’s order is rendered null and void.

NWTS also seeks dismissal of Plaintiffs’ two remaining claims against it, the
request for declaratory relief and alleged CPA violatiori3kt. 42. The Boags base

their request for declaratory relief on their allegation that MERS is not entitled to aq

ations

ost-

r

ct as

the beneficiary under the deed of trust pursuant to the Washington Deed of Trust Act

(“DTA”) and therefore, the assignment from MERS to HSBC was inv&8ekid. at 7

1 NTWS also argues that the quiet title claim against them should be dismissetR Bit

8-9. However, the Court has already dismissed that claim with prejudice. Dkt. 28laffae,
in their response to NTWS'’s initial motion, the Boags conceded that their quielditte

against NWTS should be dismissed with prejudice. Dkt. 28 atiidg(Dkt. 24 at 2).
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(citing Dkt. 28 at 5 and Dkts. 1 at 11-13 & 18). However, NWTS argues that Bduite
does not speak directly to the issue here, it cites toBmatease law interpreting and
distinguishing that case, to supports its motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ action for declz
relief. SeeDkt. 42at 5-7. According to NTWS, case law supports that, in this non-
judicial foreclosure action where “entities carr[ied] out the foreclosure [without] rely
on MERS or MERS assignment or appointment for the right to foreclose, but inste:
rel[lied] on possession of the Nbtgd. at 5),NWTS was acting at the direction of HSB
Bank as Trustee, who was the holder of the note, had the right to enforce the note
appointed NWTS as successor trustdedt 7-8). Thus, rather than acting at the
direction of MERS, NTWS acted at the direction of HSBC Bank as Trustee and ho
the note.ld. at 5 and 7-8. Therefore, NTWS essentially maintains that the Boags |
state a claim upon which declaratory relief can be granted generally, and, with reg
NWTS in particular, the Boags’ complaint fails to “identify any specific declaratory
it seeks in relation to [NTWS].Id. at 8. The Court agrees.

The Boags alleged CPA violation against NTWS depended on their content
that NTWS acted “deceptivig]” under the CPA byproceeding withforeclosure
knowing that it was inappropriate to do so with MERS acting as beneficiary.” Dkt.
8. As NTWS argues in relevant part, “[T]he mere fact MERS is listed on the deed
trust as a beneficiary is not itself an actionable injury’ under the CPA.”” Dkt. 42 at
(citing Bain 175 Wn. 2d at 120). NTWS further argues that “[g]iven that the

identification of MERS in the Deed of Trust in itself is ngiea sSeCPA violation,” the
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Boags’ CPA claim must fail as to NTWS, as “[tlhe Complaint is completely devoid
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any factual allegations that support a claim as to Northwest Trustee that could reasonably

amount to a deceptive act or practicéd’ at 9-10. The other deceptive acts regardin
Defendants’ failure to refinance the Boag’s home to provide proper documentation
disclosure of loan terms or the misappropriation of mortgage and escrow payment

relate to NTWS, who acted as successor trustee.

Given NWTS’s well-supported analysis and the lack of additional briefing frgm

the Boags opposing NTWS’s pd8&in position, the Court finds that NTWS is entitled
dismissal of the remaining claims against it.
[11. ORDER
Therefore, it is hereb@ RDERED that Defendants’ matin to dismiss (Dkt. 15) i
GRANTED in part with respect to the Boags’ claim for declaratory relief and quiet
those claims arBI SMISSED with prejudice. NWTS's motion to dismiss (Dkt. 19) is

GRANTED and all claims against it ai2l SM|1SSED with pre udice.

f

BENJAMIN H. SETTLE
United States District Judge

Dated this 19thlay ofJune, 2013.
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